ORIGINAL

THOMAS D. HALL

MAY 17 2000

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY_____

CASE NO. SC00-xxx SCOO-1080
Third District Case No. 99-1432

LUCILLE ROBERTS personally, and as personal representative of The Estate of Frederick Roberts,

Petitioners,

v.

FRANCISCO TEJADA M.D., FRANCISCO TEJADA M.D., F.A.C.P., P.A. and FRANCISCO TEJADA M.D., F.A.C.P., P.A. d/b/a AMERICAN ONCOLOGY CENTERS INC.,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF A DECISION OF
THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Respectfully submitted, May 12, 2000, by David Kleinberg Attorney for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

The District Court has rewritten the standard for a new trial under de la Rosa v. Zequeira, 659 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1995). The District Court expressly holds, inter alia that diligence now requires the litigant to conduct background investigations during trial! This court expressly ruled otherwise in de la Rosa.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner is the widow and personal representative of Frederick Roberts. Mr. Roberts had suffered from liver cancer. Petitioner alleged that Respondents were negligent in their treatment of the cancer, resulting in Mr. Roberts' death sooner than otherwise would have been the case. (A. 2).

During voir dire, **both** the trial court and Petitioner's counsel extensively questioned the prospective jurors about prior litigation. The jurors were questioned by name, one by one, at length. (A. 2) In voir dire, the trial court first raised the subject of prior litigation. The court said:

"I'll ask you ... have you been a party to a lawsuit. What I mean by that is, have you brought a court action against somebody else seeking money from them or if someone brought an action against you, seeking money from you. And it could be because of an auto accident, breach of contract, many other things, divorces and what not. But let me know if you have been a party, a plaintiff or defendant, in a case yourself or maybe a close family member has been involved in a lawsuit. Let me know that as well." (A.6).

Immediately before questioning each and every potential juror, by name, with follow up questions, Petitioner's counsel said:

"He [the judge] asked you if you had ever been a party to a lawsuit. And again, the reason isn't to embarrass you, because you know when you were in the lawsuit, you may have won and you thought it was great or you lost, thought it stunk. Or you may have been a defendant and think all the plaintiffs are out to get their money or you may have been a plaintiff and thought otherwise.

It's really important what you bring to the stand on this issue. So I'm going to ask you, each one of you by name whether or not you have ever been a party to a lawsuit. And I mean, any kind of lawsuit, a divorce, a collection of a debt, a breach of contract, an assault and battery, an auto accident, a defective product, a medical negligence case, such as this case, a divorce, anything at all." (A. 6-7)

Jurors Paula C. Guerrero and Thelma Fornell specifically answered <u>no</u>. (A. 2). Both served on the jury. The jury returned a defense verdict. (A. 2). It is now known that in 1996 Ms. Guerrero had filed a domestic violence petition alleging an assault and battery. (A. 2). Ms. Fornell had been party to two civil lawsuits. She was a defendant in a small claims case filed in 1973 and a plaintiff in an auto negligence case filed in 1975. (A. 2-3).

The Petitioner filed a timely Motion for New Trial and/or Mistrial, which was amended three times over a 10-month period to include the then available public record information regarding juror litigation. A jury interview was requested. (R. Vol. II, 331-333; R. Vol. II, 331-333; III, 513-516; IV 534-743). Interview was denied, but the trial judge entered an order to allow the parties access to the jury pool's information. (R.Vol. III, 521-522). Then an "Autotrack" computerized background check was conducted. (A. 15), (R. Vol. IV, 641-719). After great and laborious effort, the trial court found the following:

"...these jurors failed to disclose these prior litigation matters despite being asked, without ambiguity, whether such matters existed" (id. at $\P f$).

"the failure to disclose such information was not and could not possibly be attributed to any lack of diligence of... the Plaintiff" (id. at $\P q$).

"In point of fact, this court specifically finds that counsel for the plaintiff specifically asked for this information in an **unambiguous fashion**" (id. at \P h).

"moreover, this court finds that the litigation history of the actual jurors herein is relevant and material to their jury service notwithstanding the fact that the history may involve a different type of case... and may be considered remote in time" (id. at $\P j$). (R. Vol. V, 893-896)

The trial court ordered a new trial, and Respondents appealed. On appeal, the District Court reversed and remanded without mention of, or deference to, the trial court's findings. Remarkably, the District Court, sua sponte, rewrote the diligence, and materiality prongs of de la Rosa II:

"Although not raised by the appellant, we conclude that the diligence requirement was not satisfied in this case... We therefore hold that the time to check the jurors' names against the clerk's lawsuit index is at the conclusion of jury selection. If a party does not request the opportunity to make the record search, then that litigant will not be heard to complain later about nondisclosure of information which could have been disclosed by reference to the clerk's index." (A. 11-12)..."in this case the plaintiff has not given any particularized argument why Ms. Fornell's experience... could plausibly form the basis for a challenge for cause or a peremptory challenge". (A. 11).

Petitioner filed a Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc, Clarification and Certification. (A. 14). Clarification was granted but the remainder of the motion was denied. (A. 14). In the clarification opinion, the District Court repeated the new

requirement to "consult" the clerk's index "before, not after" the trial. All other issues (including conflict with this Court) were not addressed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court simply does not like the state of the law relating to juror non-disclosure resulting in new trials. Just six years ago, in Zequeira v. de la Rosa, 627 So.2d 531 (Fla. 3rd D.C.A. 1994) (" de la Rosa I"), the District Court tried to change long-standing law on this issue. However, this Court said no! In de la Rosa v. Zequeira, 659 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1995) (" de la Rosa II") this Court specifically told the District Court that its logic and analysis were wrong. Now, the District Court has directly and expressly run afoul of this Court's ruling.

The opinion of the District Court also violates this Court's rulings in State v. Hootman, 709 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 1998) and Whittaker v. Eddy, 147 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1933) prohibiting 'ex post facto' law. Finally, the opinion also expressly affects a class of constitutional or state officers (Circuit Court Judges, Clerks).

Argument

I. The District Court Opinion
Conflicts with de la Rosa II and It's Progeny
In de la Rosa II, this Court re-iterated the standard for an
order of new trial due to juror non-disclosure. The Court ruled:

"In determining whether a juror's nondisclosure of information during voir dire warrants a new trial, courts have generally utilized a three- part test. First, the complaining party must establish that the information is relevant and material to jury service in the case. Second, that the juror concealed the information during questioning.

Lastly, that the failure to disclose the information was not attributable to the complaining party's lack of diligence. We agree with this general framework for analysis and note that the trial court expressly applied this test in its order granting a new trial." de la Rosa II, supra at 241.

In this case, the trial court expressly applied this Honorable Court's standard as to each of the three prongs of the de la Rosa II test. The District Court disregarded both the trial court's findings, and this Court's standard.

A. Diligence Prong of de la Rosa II

The District Court's opinion creates a new standard for the "diligence" prong of the de la Rosa II test. In de la Rosa II, this Court held that collective questioning of the venire satisfied "diligence". Now, the District Court's opinion requires the seemingly impossible task of an intra-trial background search.

The District Court tried this once before, only to have this Honorable Court say NO! The District Court in de la Rosa I held:

"There is also considerable doubt about the third [diligence] condition. The information... was compiled from a computer search of the public records obviously conducted by plaintiff's counsel only after the jury had found against him. This set of circumstances not only invites the question of why the investigation was not "diligently" conducted previously but, more significantly, presents the disquieting practice of exposing jurors, who have done nothing more than honestly perform their civic duty, to the invasion of their private affairs because they have had the temerity to find against a particular litigant." de la Rosa I, supra at 533 n.6.

This Honorable Court has rejected intra-trial investigation. This Court expressly adopted the dissent of Judge Baskin¹ holding:

[&]quot;Judge Baskin's dissenting opinion contains a complete yet concise analysis of all of the issues involved herein... we approve and adopt her opinion as our own".

"As for the due diligence branch of the test ... the majority mandates pre-verdict discovery of juror concealment... I see no reason to extend... diligence requirements and would not impose on counsel the onerous burden of investigating the venire during the trial." de la Rosa I, supra at 534.

Remarkably, in direct conflict with this Court, the District Court now tries to press their previously rejected position:

"Although not raised by the appellant, we conclude that the diligence requirement was not satisfied in this case... We therefore hold that the time to check the jurors' names against the clerk's lawsuit index is at the conclusion of jury selection. If a party does not request the opportunity to make the record search, then that litigant will not be heard to complain later about nondisclosure of information which could have been disclosed by reference to the clerk's index." Tejada v. Roberts, 25 F.L.W. D475 at 476 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2000); (A. 11-12).

B. Prejudice/Materiality Prong of de la Rosa II

More than four decades before repeating the same in *de la*Rosa II this Court held that the non-disclosure itself "is

prejudicial to the party, for it impairs his <u>right</u> to challenge".

Loftin v. Wilson, 67 So.2d 185 (Fla.1953).

The District Court ignored this Court's holding that non-disclosure of litigation <u>is</u> material and prejudicial; and ignored the trial court's express findings. The District Court held:

"Turning to Ms. Fornell, we conclude that the nondisclosures were immaterial... The point of asking about litigation history is to determine if the juror bears some animus about the litigation process, or about similarly situated litigants, which would adversely impact on the prospective juror's ability to consider the case fairly." Tejada at 476, (A.10).

As to materiality, de la Rosa II could not be clearer. de la Rosa II spells it out:

⁶⁵⁹ So.2d 239, *242.

"On numerous occasions, our appellate courts have reversed for jury interviews or new trials, where jurors allegedly failed to disclose a prior litigation history or where other information relevant to jury service was not disclosed. Similarly, we find that the trial court here acted well within its authority in concluding that the juror's failure to disclose his prior history of litigation deprived De La Rosa of a fair and impartial trial." de la Rosa II at 241.

The District Court's holding that different litigation is not material has also been dealt with before:

"The majority opinion in the district court appeared to be particularly concerned that the juror's prior litigation history did not include a case like the one being tried... Judge Baskin's dissent responded to these concerns and we quote with approval that response: '... Bernal should not be viewed as distinguishable from this case on the ground that this juror's involvement was not in a personal injury action: A person involved in prior litigation may sympathize with similarly situated litigants or develop a bias against legal proceedings in general. In these circumstances, counsel must be permitted to make an informed judgment as to the prospective juror's impartiality and suitability for jury service.'" de la Rosa II at 241.²

As to materiality, simply look at the new trial order expressly affirmed in de la Rosa II. The order stated:

"Defendants argue that this concealment is not material. It is hard for this court to see what could be more relevant than a potential jury [sic] hiding his involvement in litigation" .de la Rosa II, supra at 240 n.1.

As to prejudice, the District Court misses the point. It is in conflict with this Court's rulings. The District Court held:

"in this case the plaintiff has not given any particularized argument why Ms. Fornell's experience... could plausibly form the basis for a challenge for cause or a peremptory

See also Mitchell v. State, 458 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Smiley v. McCallister, 451 So.2d 977 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Mobil Chemical Company v. Hawkins, 440 So.2d 378 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); and Skiles v. Ryder Truck Lines, Inc., 267 So.2d 379 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972).

challenge" . Tejada, supra at p. 476; (A. 11).

This is backward logic. de la Rosa II provides the reason for voir dire and describes the rights of the party's:

"In Loftin v. Wilson, 67 So.2d 185 (Fla.1953), we explained the major reasons for interviewing jurors on voir dire: '[t]o ascertain whether a challenge exists, and to ascertain whether it is wise and expedient to exercise the right to peremptory challenge given by law... A juror who falsely represents his interest or situation or conceals a material fact relevant to the controversy is guilty of misconduct, and such misconduct is prejudicial to the party, for it impairs his right to challenge'". de la Rosa II at 241, citing Loftin at 192.

In fact, the District Court's opinion is in conflict with the holdings of State v. Rodgers, 347 So.2d 610 (Fla.1977), and Lowery v. State, 705 So.2d 1367 (Fla. 1998) cited in its opinion, as well as Seay v. State, 190 So.2d 702 (Fla. 1939). Lowery, which interprets Rodgers, refused to require a party to demonstrate actual prejudice, finding it to be presumed. Lowery states:

"For the reasons expressed, we agree with the concerns articulated by the district court and answer the certified question with a qualified no, holding that, where it is not revealed to a defendant that a juror is under prosecution by the same office that is prosecuting the defendant's case, inherent prejudice to the defendant is presumed and the defendant is entitled to a new trial." Lowrey, supra at 1368.

Thus, contrary to the District Court's opinion, a litigant need not show prejudice. <u>It is presumed</u>. In fact, in his specially concurring opinion, Justice Anstead went further and spoke of the problems if prejudice must be shown, he wrote:

"As Justice Hatchett explained: 'I am concerned with the practical application of such a rule. How can the [moving party] "demonstrate that the juror's [misconduct] affected her ability to render a fair and impartial verdict or that she failed to do so"?... Finally, must the showing of prejudice

be by a preponderance of the evidence, by clear and convincing evidence, or beyond a reasonable doubt?'"Lowrey, supra at 1370, KOGAN, C.J., and SHAW, J., concur.

II. The District Court Opinion Conflicts with Hootman, and Eddy

The District Court opinion holds that Petitioner's failure to run a juror background search during trial, which was at that time not required, or even heard of, acts now to deprive her of her otherwise guaranteed right to a trial by a fair and impartial jury. The District Court's re-wrote the law, ex post facto.

"Generally, parties are governed by law of pleading, practice, and procedure as it may exist at time of their proceeding." Whittaker v. Eddy, 147 So. 868 (Fla. 1933).

"Law is 'retrospective' for purposes of ex post facto prohibition if it changes the legal consequences of acts completed before its effective date." State v. Hootman, 709 So.2d 1357 (1998).

III. The District Court Opinion Affects
A Class of Constitutional or State Officers
The District Court's opinion affects a class of State
officers. To wit: Chief Circuit Judges, Circuit Judges, and
Clerks. The District Court in requiring the intra-trial
investigation of jurors also wrote:

"The court would suggest that the chief judges of the Eleventh and Sixteenth Judicial Circuits look into this problem and determine if this information may feasibly be made available at an earlier stage, such as on line in the courtroom". Tejada, supra at 477; (A. 12 at n.8).

The District Court placed a burden on the Chief Judge, the Judges, and the Clerk to make information available, to purchase and maintain computer equipment, and to delay trials. The effect of the District Court's opinion will be to bring the trial court

system to its knees, and require huge delays. Imagine the cases seeking a writ of prohibition to hold up an impatient trial judge.

CONCLUSION

This Court should accept the Petition for Discretionary

Review. There is a substantial basis for "conflict jurisdiction".

The case to be reviewed is being cited by the District Court in several other cases. It is also being cited by other (but not all)

District Courts. Uncertainty and injustice abounds.

State Officers are unsure what is, or is not, required of them to comply with the intra-trial investigation requirements of the District Court's opinion. Help from above is needed.

Wherefore, the Petitioner, respectfully requests that this Honorable Court: accept jurisdiction under Article V, 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii & iv); and reverse and quash the District Court's opinion; and reinstate the trial courts Order Granting New Trial.