ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LUCILLE ROBERTS, personally and CASE NO. SC00-xxx SC00-1080 as personal representative of the Estate THIRD DISTRICT CASE NO.99-01432 of FREDERICK ROBERTS, Deceased,

Petitioner.

THOMAS D. HALL

MAY 3 0 2000

v.

FRANCISCO TEJADA, M.D., FRANCISCO TEJADA, M.D., F.A.C.P.,P.A., and FRANCISCO TEJADA, M.D., F.A.C.P., P.A., d/b/a AMERICAN ONCOLOGY CENTERS, INC., CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ISSUES

Ι

WHETHER THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THIS PETITION BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN HARMONY WITH DE LA ROSA V. ZEQUEIRA, 659 SO.2D 239 (FLA. 1995).

Π

WHETHER THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION DOES NOT CREATE AN *EX POST FACTO* LAW.

III

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION DOES NOT AFFECT THE DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF CIRCUIT JUDGES AND CLERKS.

ARGUMENT SUMMARY

This Honorable Court lacks jurisdiction to review this case because the District Court's decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court and fully harmonizes with the settled law. Not only does the District Court's decision follow the settled law, it relies upon the very decision that Roberts cites as controlling.

Review of the instant case is not available on the alternative grounds raised by Roberts. This case does not create any *ex post facto* law; it merely identifies potential procedures to streamline the litigation process and to foster judicial economy.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I

THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THIS PETITION BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN HARMONY WITH DE LA ROSA V. ZEQUEIRA, 659 SO.2D 239 (FLA. 1995).

In an attempt to create a conflict, Roberts overlooks the fact that the Third District's decision not only acknowledges the *De La Rosa* decision of this Court, but also identifies it as "the beginning point for analysis." (A.4) The opinion in issue repeatedly refers to *De La Rosa* as the touchstone for its analysis.

The *De La Rosa* case does *not* hold that a new trial is automatically mandated whenever there is an allegation that a juror has not disclosed information. Rather, *De La Rosa* holds that courts must analyze such assertions to determine whether the information is relevant and material to jury service in that case, second, that the juror concealed the information, and third, that there was due diligence in the questioning of the venire. A new trial is warranted only if *all* three elements are present.

Under the facts of the instant case, Roberts failed to meet all three of these requirements with Guerrero and at least two of the three requirements with Fornell (Roberts was clearly given the benefit of the doubt by the District Court's dual assumptions that Fornell had familiarity with the litigation process because she was a "banker" and also that she was ever aware of two short-lived legal matters occurring during the Nixon era where she may have been a nominal party – so that "concealment" could be assumed).

The District Court was clearly guided by the *De La Rosa* decision when considering whether either juror failed to disclose information which could be material to their jury service. The District Court's opinion recited the fact that, unlike the instant case, the *De La Rosa* juror had concealed his status as a defendant in six prior lawsuits, including a final judgment entered only two months earlier and a recent deposition in aid of execution. The Third District noted that such facts were "so clear cut and the non-disclosure so clear on its face, that the case was disposed of as a matter of law." (A.10) The instant case presented a stark contrast where the "past experience is simply too remote in time to have a material bearing on the present jury selection," and was therefore "too far removed to be material under *De La Rosa*." (A.11)

Conflict certiorari is available only where there is a *direct* conflict between two decisions. *Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis,* 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981). Review is

limited to those situations because of the concern for uniformity in decisions as precedent rather than the adjudication of the rights of particular litigants. *Mystan Marine Inc. v. Harrington*, 339 So.2d 200 (Fla. 1976). Because the case claimed to be in conflict is easily distinguishable on its facts, and in fact forms the basis for the instant decision in issue, certiorari review on the grounds of conflict is not available. *Wilson v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co.*, 327 So.2d 220 (Fla. 1976); *Department of Revenue v. Johnston*, 442 So.2d 930 (Fla. 1983).

H

THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION DOES NOT CREATE AN *EX POST FACTO* LAW.

Roberts takes the wholly unfounded position that any change in courtroom procedures constitutes an *ex post facto* law. This is clearly incorrect. Courts frequently apply procedural modifications to pending cases. As this Court stated in *Village of El Portal v. City of Miami Shores*, 362 So.2d 275 (Fla. 1978), changes to procedure do not fall within a constitutional prohibition against retroactive litigation and may be immediately applicable to pending cases. *See e.g., Insurance Co. of North America v. Pasakarnis*, 451 So.2d 447 (Fla. 1984) (new seatbelt defense applicable in pending case); *Nash v. Wells Fargo Guard Services, Inc.,* 678 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 1996) (modification of affirmative defense relating to non-party or third party liability). Roberts misplaces reliance on the case of *State v.*

Hootman, 709 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 1998) because that factually distinguishable case involved a statute that affected the scope of evidence in a first degree murder action.

III

THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION DOES NOT AFFECT THE DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF CIRCUIT JUDGES AND CLERKS.

In a footnote to its opinion, the Third District suggested a possible procedure which might enhance the efficiency of courtroom proceedings. This suggestion to utilize computers that many, if not most, judges already have sitting on the bench, cannot be considered by any stretch of the imagination as a mandate to revamp the court system or to buy expensive equipment that will "bring the trial court system to its knees, and require huge delays" as suggested by Roberts (Roberts' Jurisdictional Brief, pages 9-10). Roberts' hysterical exaggeration in this assertion is a case of actions speaking louder than words as to the so-called merits of Roberts' entire argument.

Roberts also presumes, without any citation to case law or the record, that the instant case has caused "state officers [to be] unsure what is, or is not, required of them to comply with the intra-trial investigation requirements of the District Court's opinion," with the result that "uncertainty and injustice abounds.

(Roberts' Jurisdictional Brief p. 10). Robert's assumption is simply not supported by the case law of this state, the opinion in issue, or the record in the instant case.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, no direct conflict exists between the decision of the District Court of Appeal and the decisions of this Court and therefore there is no jurisdiction to review this matter.